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The lands where the Belarusian ethnos was formed and where the Republic of Belarus appeared afterwards, are represented on dozens of European maps of the past centuries, which, to a certain extent, are milestones in the cartographical science development. This part of Eastern Europe, that became known as “Belaya Rus” (“Russia Alba” in Latin tradition), owing to scarce and not always reliable data, typical of the early Middle Ages (approximately till the beginning of XVI c.), was beyond real localization for a long time. The territory was customarily considered a part of Lithuania or Poland (their official names are the Grand Duchy of Lithuania and Polish Kingdom. The name itself was “wandering”, appearing in the most unexpected places: now it was placed near the White Sea, now it was identified with Moskovia, now it was found … in Siberia. Both at that time and for quite a long period of time afterwards state-political affiliation played the main role, with few exceptions, in representing the territory. Exactly this belonging was reflected in the heads of maps as well as on the maps themselves. But such phenomenon is rather superficial, although it is often resorted to for the sake of “historical evidence”. Of the greatest scientific practical interest is the immediate contents of a map as a documentary source. Due to the help of ancient cartography in particular a most complete reconstruction of the past is possible. And in case of historic-geographical specification, in ecological research, studies of local lore and so on it becomes dominating.
Fundamentally all extensive cartographical heritage can be divided into several kinds or groups, first of all according to their scale and corresponding load. It is clear that as the territory was more and more inspected, including not only descriptions, but also first-hand mapping afield, there grew the authenticity and improved the information content of maps. It is safe to say that cartography kept step with scientific and technological advance, was directly connected with geographical discoveries and new areas development. But one must not exclude a political factor (in particular, a military one) as well, which would bring about changes of borders, appearance or disappearance of settlements. It is particularly noticeable through the increase of requirements to details and appearance of large-scale maps. The mentioned commonly accepted classification should be supplemented with state affiliation, authorship, publishers and cartographical schools together with the appearance time (of compiling or printing) of a stated edition. Those last points in particular come to the fore for ancient cartography of Belarus, since the historical circumstances came round in such a way that an overwhelming majority of the maps which depicted its territory were created out of the country’s bounds. In the context of the said above the following conventional division can be suggested, which is primarily connected with chronology:
· archaic (initial) period (until XV c.)
· formation of cartography as science (XVI – XVII c.)

· cartography of new time (XVIII c.)

· cartography of XIX c.

The initial period when the territory of interest appeared on the earliest cartographical pictures is usually related to the name of Claudius Ptolemy, Alexandrian scientist, engaged in astronomy and geography as early as in Antique Epoch (in the beginning of II c. AD) – his works became known throughout Europe only in XV c. and since that time became fundamental for works of many authors who wrote different chronicles, cosmographies and other kinds of geographical descriptions. But maps gradually acquired a status of separate works which owing to their specificity were clustered into special works sets (future atlases), sanctified by the name of Ptolemy. Those “ptolemies” were steadily enriched with new data, made more accurate and graphically improved; with invention of book-printing they became much more available. From this very century the name “European Sarmatia” came into use – which is the part of Eastern Europe where Byelorussian lands situated. Nevertheless, in spite of obvious priority advantages of those maps (notion of projection, latitude and longitude, orientation to the North and so on), their informational load grew slowly. Most of them were small-scale (if one can speak of accuracy at all when defining object location), overfull with archaic names and semi mythical material. 
Apart from “ptolemies” there were cartographical works specially ranked in Europe, so to speak, of private or local origin, almost devoid of mathematical grounds. Among them are “monk’s maps”, proceeding from the idea of flat circular Earth. Just as their Ptolemaic competitors in respect of veracity, nevertheless they tried to insert a greater body of material, which invariably led to extension of sketch dimensions. A classical example of it is the map Fra Mauro (7-1459) made by a Venetian cosmograph, who, on the basis of materials vested by the Portuguese, created “Mappa Mondo” (Map of the World). There one can find White Russia (in Italian – “Rossia Biancha”), situated in Asiatic Sarmatia. Probably, sudden abundance of information made brother Mauro exclaim: “I don’t believe the words of Ptolemy!” [1, p.76].
Arabian maps stay separately, almost unknown to medieval European scientists. But their data, apparently, might have been used by Vikings (Northmen, Varangians), which is proved, for example, by the work of a native of Cordovan emirate al-Ida rici (1100-1165), who compiled a detailed world map (1154) for a Sicilian king (Northman by origin) Roger II (Ragnar) followed by commentaries, so called “Roger’s Book”. Although the location of “White Russia” on it remains disputable, its lands, with typical names “bilad al rusia”, “turubi” (Turov), “muniska” (most likely – Minsk) together with a vast lake situated nearby “buhaire termi” (presumably marshes in Polesye) and a number of others, were already quite known in the Middle East and plotted on maps. 
Thus, to the beginning of XVI c. European scientists had gathered a certain amount of material concerning near and remoted countries, which were just to plot on cartographic field, guided by the principles of Ptolemy. Among the first scientists who started depicting the central part of Europe more close to reality, was cardinal Nicolai Kuzapsky (1401-1464). Taking his works as a basis, M. Beneventano published in Rome in 1504 and 1508 “Georgaphy” of Ptolemy, adding new maps, among which “New Tabula of Poland, Hungary, Bohemia, Germany, Russia and Lithuania” is marked out. It is considered that the information concerning Eastern Europe is connected with the names of Nicholas Copernicus (1473-1543) and Bernard Vapovsky (1450-1535) [18, p.38-74].
B.Vapovsky, the founder of polish cartography, in his works which reached us piecewise represented a new presentation of East European lands, including Byelorussian. On those parts of “Sarmatia” which survived (before 1526, about 1:4000000) one can see Mozyr, Retchitsa, Bobrujsk, Orsha, Rogachev, Loev, some inscriptions of historic geographical character. 
The foundation was laid, and in XVI there appears a considerable number of cartographic presentations and descriptions of Polish Kingdom and Grand Duchy of Lithuania, where the territory of Belarus was permanently represented. At that, as the studies of modern polish scientists have shown, in dozens of maps made by various authors belonging to that century one can see borrowings from Vapovsky (G.Tzell, K.Vopelius, G.Gastaldi and others) [19, p.28]. 
The traditions set by Vapovsky were carried on by subsequent generations of polish cartographers. The most prominent among them is a map “Polonia”, special in subject-matter, made by Vatzlav Grodetsky (ab.1535-1591), which was inserted by a famous Flemish publisher Abraham Ortelius (1527-1598) into his atlas in 1570. Though it is true that cartographical proceedings of Grodetsky appeared even earlier in other editions, like in Basel printing center of I.Oporin (in 1562). By that time already it was evident that the old material was replenished with almost a quarter of fresh data – over the Dnieper, Pripyats and Berezina. Thanks to Grodetsky such semi mythical notions as Sarmat and Amadox marshes, Lake Kronos disappeared from European vision of Byelorussian lands, the proportion of presentation improved. On the area concerned, namely the north-eastern part of “Polonia” (ab. 1:2500000), there were plotted 30 settlements, the hydrography augmented considerably as well. Certainly, it didn’t go without mistakes altogether, there were some in presenting even the most large-scale objects (Minsk, Zaslavl and others are marked with signs, but not lettered; many great lakes went unnoticed). It was not uncommon when the author in view of the absence of information simply covered blank places with conventional forests to make the presentation uniform. 
On the pages of subsequent editions of A.Ortelius, starting from 1595, a new map will appear – “Description of Poland and Lithuania”, which will indicate not only the authorship of Grodetsky, but also the revise of another polish cartographer Andgej Pograbka (7-1602). In common with his predecessor Pograbka had been practicing in cartography long before similar recognition. Thus, in 1570 he published his “European Sarmatia” in Venice (ab. 1: 1950000), a rather simplified xylographic presentation. “Sarmatia” is attractive in a way: in its north-eastern part (where Byelorussia is situated) alongside with traditional forest décor popular images typical of that time are clearly seen. But, what is the most important, A.Pograbka proceeded with a list of cartographical objects. On the maps of XVI c., representing Eastern Europe, about 60 names relating to Byelorussian lands were fixed. 
 The second half of XVI c. in Polish cartography is characterized by one more specific tendency – depicting the theatre of war operations, related to Livonian War (1558-1583). Those events covered mostly the northern part of modern Belarus, that is Podvinje. Some historians even distinguish a separate period – Polotsk War. At that time there appeared corresponding maps and schemes, which were actively used by one of the combatants (Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth). Evidently, king Stephan Batoria was not in vain escorted by cartographers. The majority of those materials (descriptions), made schematically, “on the move”, hasn’t remained, but the names of key specialists and their main proceedings held out until the present days. Here two authors are notable: Matvei Strubitch (ab 1530-ab.1604) and Stanislav Paholovetsky, whose biography hasn’t yet been known. Paholovetsky is known by a number of schemes-presentations of fortresses, situated in Podvinje, which were besieged and taken by storm. Among them there is a detailed “Scheme of Polotsk siege on August 11, 1579”, engraved in Rome a year later. There also survived a small “Map of Polotsk Principality” (Rome, 1580, ab. 1:700000), ascribed to the same military cartographer. 
Matvei Strubitch is the author of a known description “Grand Duchy of Lithuania, Livonia and Moskovia” (1:2800000), published by a famous polish chronicle historian M.Kromer in “Polonia” (Keln, 1589). Here the northern part of Byelorussian lands with dozens of settlements is represented. The main axes are the rivers Dvina and Dnieper in their upstream. This work of Strubitch was later used by G. Mercator. 
It was underlined earlier that various works of polish cartographers which, figuratively speaking, were closer to the reality than others, were widely used in Europe. The authority of Ptolemy there was still in force, but exactly abundance of new data combined with scientific and technological advance insistently demanded review of the maps even to creation of absolutely new ones, in other projections and work scales. On the turn of this transition to the cartography of new time the activity of a known European scientist of the Renaissance epoch, Sebastian Munster (1489-1552), falls. 
S. Munster while being a professor of Basel university was simultaneously engaged in cartographical publishing. He is the composing author of the famous “Cosmography” (1544), a geographical encyclopedia of Middle Ages, printed in many European countries. When republishing routine “ptolemies” Munster modernized them noticeably, providing them with absolutely new maps. Among them “New Tabule of Poland and Hungary” (1540) held a well-deserved place, being published not once in different atlases and books. Here the greatest part of Eastern Europe is represented, including Byelorussia, under the name of “Sarmatia”. 
Munster considerably diminished the format of his cartographical editions, fully appreciating that without corresponding loading only generalization can provide the necessary generalized idea of real proportions of a territory. He did not yet possessed that subsequent information (he created his works in the middle of XVI c.) which will soon be received from polish cartographers, being guided by the works of Beneventano and Vapovsky then known to him in everything what concerned East. His “new Tabula”, performed xylographically, is quite archaic in style. His uncertainty is seen in placing he name “Russia Alba”, which is plotted again in an unexpected place – to the south of Moskovia. But major Belorussian towns Novogrudok, Pinsk, Grodno, Orsha, Bobrujsk, Mozyr, Gomel and others are on the corresponding places. Besides, S.Munster was one of the first who accurately “bound” names of settlements and used a special sing for their indication: a conventional picture of a town with a letter-punch. This worked the map up. The hydrogaphy appears less exact. A number of rivers flowing through Belarus (Narev, Mukchavets, Pina and others) have their sources in vast Sarmat marshes, while Neman and Slutch begin in the lake of Kronos. It seems possible that at that time, especially during spring flood the marshland was indeed perceived as considerable and permanent water areas. 
To the end of XVI century thanks to the professional activity of famous Gerard Mercator (1512-1594) a new scientifically grounded pattern of depicting the surface of Earth becomes established in the cartographic sphere. It was he who put into use the very definition “Atlas” as a set of maps. Among his numerous and various works a special map “Lithvania” took place, the largest part of which was covered by Belarusian lands. Mercator brought together all geographical data available at that time, having analyzed practically all preceding cartographical heritage. As his biography shows, he carefully selected material for subsequent cartographing. If we take “Lithvania” as an example (it was published after his death in 1595 in the third part of “Atlas” compiled by Hondius), we can make certain that exactly for that reason it took him so much time to achieve the final result. Even if one takes into consideration such an extensive subject-matter in the area of world and European maps as he chose, each of them reasonably became a new word in cartography.
The Byelorussian lands had been depicted by Mercator even earlier, for example, in a large map of Europe (1554), but most typically for XVI c. they are represented in a specially compiled map “Lithvania”. For the first time this territory was depicted on a separate page and considerable area (56,5 x 44,5 cm, 1:3000000). The author (whose privilege is confirmed) achieved a high “clarity” of the map, unifying signatures. That was him who developed (1540) special prints even before. There was made an attempt to determine the external frontiers of the Grand Duchy of Lithuania, although a number of inaccuracies did occur (Volyn is overly wedged into the territory of the Duchy, Podlyashje was joined to Polish kingdom in 1569 by the terms of Lublin Union and so on). But the main thing is that the informational load of the map increased considerably. Dozens of new settlements appeared on the territory of Belarus, cartographied by Mercator. Taking into account the absence of exact coordinates of settlements (accuracy requirements to their location rise pro rata to the scale) he confined his work to a classical cartographical frame that provided division into degrees and minutes, without taking the risk of plotting a net of meridians and parallels. 
The activity of G. Mercator as a scientist in cartography meant the beginning of a new period in the history of the field. His proceedings and integrated information will be used not once by subsequent authors and publishers of special maps and atlases where Byelorussian lands will always be reflected. 
Already at the end of XVI c. when creating of regional maps of a larger scale began it became clear that armchair methods can’t settle the question, work “in nature” becomes indispensable. In particular this concerned territories difficult of access. It is clear why many leading cartographers of the time used any new information coming from east “on-the fly”. A widely known “Map of Radzivill” is a confirmation and, above all, its importance in the history of cartography. 
“Here and there the lands of the Grand Duchy of Lithuania are investigated not so well as it deems necessary, especially in comparison with the works of foreign geographers who acted consistently and steadily. In the map that is proposed we represented an image of the country with all possible diligence and attention, relying upon antique traditions, integrating minor details and omitting inessential ones so as not to arise puzzled questions; having chosen the way of authenticity we used the adjusted local measures of length, employed in Lithuania, Poland, Russia and Podolia, which will also add to the simplicity of this work”, - with such words the authors of the map addressed the “Magnanimous Contemplator”, that is the user.
The names of those who participated in creating this prominent work that became leading in representing this part of Eastern Europe soon after the publication – this is the matter that hasn’t been decided upon yet. One can surmise that the whole business organization, its financing and preparing of sketches (drafts) for their further engraving and publishing is the handwork of the Duke himself, Nikolai Christopher Radzivill, the “Orphan” (1549-1616). The framing decoration  (cartouches) belongs to the court artist of Nesvizh, Tomash Makovsky (1570-1630) who, apparently, furnished the initial materials for a final preparation before publishing in Amsterdam, where the map “Grand Duchy of Lithuania” was engraved and printed in 1613 (77 x 79 cm, 1:1300000) [18, p.75-136].
During preparation of contents of the map the best-known materials and publications by that time were used, at the same time Radzivill specially sent clerks to the spot in order to obtain accurate data. Attention is drawn to the fact that the location of many settlements is defined accurately with respect to astronomy. Here we may surmise that these data were transmitted to the Duke, catholic by religion, by Jesuits, whose missions were quite spread on these lands. However that may be, “Radzivill’s map” contains more than three hundred settlements (within the present borders of Belarus), which outnumbers in several times similar maps of predecessors. On the whole “Grand Duchy of Lithuania” advanced the local cartography considerably on the way to reality. Within the next one hundred years this cartographical masterpiece originating from Nesvizh will be not once resorted to by almost all eminent Western European specialists and scientists. 
When inspecting carefully the eastern part of Radzivill’s map dated 1613 one can notice the scarcity of local loading. This may, of course, be explained by frequent military-political events on these boundaries, which hindered from gathering information. But it also entailed one more drawback – a considerable “squeezing” when representing the part in question, which is actual distortion. Guillom de Boplan (ab. 1600-1675), fortification engineer, cartographer from France, artillery captain at the service of the polish king, he was the first who paid attention to this. On account of his protestant belief (the Frenchman was a Huguenot) he was expatriated from a catholic country. On the way home Boplan found himself at the publishing house of V.Hondius, a famous engraver, where he had time to publish (in addition to his previous works) several maps [19, p.51-60]. Among them he map “Magnus Ducat: Lithvaniae et Russia Alba” is most remarkable – the first work where “White Russia” is taken as a part of the title. In this very map the geographical proportions of Byelorussian lands were made more precise. Boplan’s works will be mentioned not once as the basic ones for a number of European maps of the second half of XVII – the beginning of XVIII. 
Having more than a dozen celebrities in the outgoing XVII century one can’t but focus the attention on two of them – the founder of the French cartographical school Nicola Sanson (1600-1667) and the founder of “Cosmographical Academy” (1684) in Venice Vincentzo Coronelli (1650-1718).
For the history of cartography in Belarus N.Sanson is of interest for his atlas “Polish kingdom” (the first edition in 1665) where separate provinces of the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth were represented on so called “particular” maps. Although some investigators suspected that these “particulars” are just mechanical enlargement of the pieces taken from the general map made in order to achieve the effect of greater scale with the same loading, nevertheless these maps presented further proceeding on the way of cartographying these close but little known territories. For all uncertainties, including mistakes typical of that time as well, the works of Sanson attract by their elegant performance, “transparency”, good readership in general. While inevitable appearance of “void spaces” can be considered as “an implication in the manner of Rable” made by this French cartographer: something like “you are welcome, fill it in!”
To be exact, Byelorussian lands in the stated atlas of Sanson are positioned on four unfolded pages (60 x 45 cm) under a joint name “Partie de Lithuanie” – “Parts of Lithuania”. These “parts” cover practically all modern Belarus, marking out provinces through boundaries (le Palatinat): Brest with Polesye, provinces of Vilnya and Troksk, of Polotsk and Vitebsk, of Minsk and Mstislavl. What concerns the scale of these “particular maps” it is rather large (1:800000).
The map “Lituania” (Venice, 1691-1695, 1:1700000) is notable for its peculiarity, being dedicated by its author, Vincentzo Coronelli, to a composer and theorist of belcanto Pjetro Cavalli (1602-1676). Although fairly based on the materials of Radzivil’s map it nevertheless has a number of distinctions (different interpretation of names, some explanations are added to the later historical events, the coloring denoting the provinces boundaries is more distinct). In spite of the evident “gift” accent of the general design the work of Venetian university professor, the author of the best globes in XVII c., is an important document in Byelorussian historiography. 
As one of the closing accords of the old baroque cartography, which was especially advanced in the Dutch school, one should consider the publishing activity of the Dunkerts family from Amsterdam. In this respect the map of Ustus Dunkerts (1635-1701) “Regni Polonia et Ducatus Lithuaniae” (ab. 1685, Amsterdam, ab. 1:2250000, 59 x 55,5 cm) is indicative, being wonderfully illuminated  with a skillfully made cartouche. The administrative and territorial division of Byelorussian lands at that time appears on this map with all clearness, although on the whole this work is a compilation in many respects.
XVIII century is the time of an absolute consolidation of a new cartography in depicting the historical past of Belarus. Although foreign maps and atlases were dominating on the territory of the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth in the first decades - German for the most part (Homann’s publishing house in Nurnberg), the middle of the century is marked as the revival of local cartography that led to a boisterous surge during the so called “Stanislaw epoch” (the 70-s) and the divisions of the Polish-Lithuanian state.
The most outstanding cartographer and publisher of the field in Germany in the beginning of the century was Iogann Baptist Homann (1664-1724). Being an excellent engraver he himself was the executor of the majority of works published in his house among which, for example, “The Large Atlas” alone contained 126 maps. Altogether he made compiled more than two hundred pages. Earlier, being a contemporary of the North War events (1700-1721), Homann opportunistically replicated the maps of the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth in dependence of the situation, inserting either king August de Saxony in colorful cartouches (in edition before 1706), or replacing his portrait by an allegorical “battle-piece” – a fight of two swarms of bees (when Carl XII made this ally of Russia retire). The successors had to introduce the corrections quickly. And other famous German cartographers successfully studied in Iogann Homann’s school: Tobiash Mayer (1723-1762), Matteo Zoiter (1678-1756), Tobiash Lotter (1717-1777) and others. To a greater or lesser extent all of them presented Byelorussian lands on their maps. 
Among the works of the mentioned authors it is necessary to distinguish the map of T.Mayer “Mappa Geographica Regni Poloniae” (1750, Nurnberg, ab. 1:2800000, 54 x 46 cm), because there the name “Russia Alba” (White Russia) is arranged diagonally from the province of Berestye to that of Polotsk. Hence, he was virtually one of the first who accurately determined the territory of Belarus. Though spontaneous attempts to mark “White Russia” on a map happened even earlier. For example, a famous French cartographer Guillom Delille (1675-1726) in “La Pologne” (1702) “established’ quite a strange name “Russi Polonoise” – “Polish Russia” in a vast arch from the north of Ukraine (Volyn) to Byelorussian settlement of Rogachev inclusively. Shortly before another Parisian publisher and engraver Nicola de Fer (1646-1720) made an attempt to do the same. In one of his numerous maps (600!) which had a rather lengthy title “Estats des Courones de Dannemark, Suede, et Pologne sur la Mer Baltique” (1700) he introduced a more suitable definition “Russie Blanche ou Lituanique” – “White or Lithuanian Russia”.
The renaissance of the polish-lithuanian cartography in XVIII starts with the cartographical work of Jan Nieprzecki (1718-1750) who, being educated in Jesuit educational institutions and working as a teacher in a number of colleges, appeared in Nesvizh (1745-1746). Here he collected necessary material for the map “Grand Duchy of Lithuania with its provinces and communes” (ab. 1:1610000, 56,5 x 50 cm), published in Nurnberg in 1749 edited by T.Mayer. The map of Nieprzecki, wonderfully engraved and illuminated, overshadowed for some time the previous works due to its minuteness. Indeed, for the first time the author thoroughly studied the existing administrative and territorial division, gave its historical content in a special explanation. Being often guided by the data from the map of Radzivill mentioned above (which is evident from a number of names and their placement), Nieprzecki added more than a hundred of settlements on the territory of Belarus, improved the hydrographical net and diversified the prints. By its design the map was really the product of a new epoch. But in many points this still had a compilative character, thousands of names that still could have been marked on a large scale remained out of view. 
The territory of Belarus in cartographical sources of XVIII is best of all presented in the works created in the 70-s of that century, the works which were directly related to the “place of action” itself - the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth, that was undertaking desperate efforts to stand up against the approaching divisions (1772, 1793 and 1795). It should be mentioned that the king Stanislav August Ponyatovsky (1732-1798), who acceded to the throne (1764) not without assistance of “Petersburg’s hand”, at that time played a great enlightening role. The king himself was an active collector of maps (many of them were found in Russian depositories) and an immediate initiator of map production. Therefore it is appropriate to start with introducing “the king’s cartographers”, that is those who were public servants: Florian Tchaki (7-1772) – one of the creators of the Royal (Dnieper-Bug) canal; Bartolommeo Folino (1730-1808) – the author of the large map of the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth (1771); Charles de Pertaes (1740-1815) – the creator of the most detailed (manuscript) map of Poland (the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth). It is clear that only those works will be taken up (in fragments) which relate to Byelorussian lands.
The greatest efficiency in creating a modern image of the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth (including military objectives) was displayed by the captain of the crown artillery Bartolommeo Folino, under the name of whom appeared the multisheet map “New general map of Poland and the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth” in  1770 (ab. 1:1220000, 97 x 83 cm), that stood several editions. For the first time Byelorussian provinces appeared on a considerable space, another increase of the settlements number took place, the main roads (postal and trade, hotels) appeared, the hydrography became more exact and the forest blocks – more defined. In a word, there was made a considerable step towards appearance of detailed maps.
The work of Charles de Pertaes, the first royal geographer, originating from a French Huguenot family that had settled in Saxony, should have become immense by intention. His “Polonia 1770” (ab. 1:930000, 48 sections, each 18 x 24 cm) according to the evidence of Polish professor K.Butchek (1902-1983), appeared in manuscript in 1703. At the beginning of the German-Polish War (September 1939) this only copy burned down when Warsaw was bombed. But earlier the professor made photocopies of “Polonia” which were later published. Though some doubts arise as to the real size of the map and its coloring as well as other details.
By its content “Polonia 1770” was a general map, covering the whole territory of the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth, showing internal and external borders, marking (according to the accompanying “Explication”) large and small towns, boroughs, some villages that had some administrative importance as well as post stations, metal smelting enterprises and those producing consequent products, finally – main physiographic objects (rivers, lakes, marshes, forests and forest reserves). Besides, the map is supplied with the main statistical data summarized in a table. Such abundance of new information attracted the attention of investigators more than once, but since the original missed many of them expressed cautious opinions. A new edition of this outstanding memorial using the latest restoration methods might possibly help the whole matter. 
On the general map of Ch. de Pertaes Byelorussian lands included wholly or partially into the provinces of Berestye, Novogrudok, Minsk, Polotsk, Vitebsk, Mstislavl, Bilno and Troksk were arranged in 14 sections which makes more than one third of all the area. In comparison with the “crown” territories the eastern remote districts (of Belarus) were paid less attention, but the cartographical field was already made. However the circumstances prevented him from continuing the work in full extent and after his patron Stanislav August was cast from the thrown he left for Vilno.
Apart from the “royal” cartographers a considerable input into the creation of Byelorussian provinces detailed image was made in the same 70-s following the initiative of the prince who patroned arts, the governor of Novogrudok province Uzeph Alexander Yablonovsky (1711-1777). Under his guidance significant initial material was gathered which became the basis for “Carte de la Pologne” (1772) of Antonio Rizzi-Sanonni (1736-1814), an Italian cartographer who published this work later in the form of atlas in London and Paris. The territory of Belarus covers about half of the atlas’s pages (3, 4, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12 15 and 16; each 51 x 31,5 cm, ab. 1: 692000). This is, perhaps, the best cartographical presentation in terms of detail refinement provided with information at the middle of XVIII. Apart from plenty of settlements the nature background is given here (which is of no small importance), that once and for all replaced the abstract décor of the former editions, various toponims. In “Polonia 1772” the man’s activity regarding the environment is clearly seen. Such monuments are valuable sources of historical and ecological investigations.

The map of Jacob Kanter (1736-1786) standing apart (published in Konigsberg in 1770), performed in an old style (xylography), but with renewed loading “Regni Polonia, Magni Ducatus Lituaniae” (ab. 1:675000) produces a double impression. Unwieldiness of the map (203 x 174 cm) was the reason for its publishing in the form of an atlas on 16 pages (each 51,5 x 44,5 cm). A separate page-cartouche made by a famous graphic artist Daniel Hodovetsky (1726-1801) is significant, there an internal political weakness of the state, an original hint at the division possibility, is presented in an allegorical form. 
To the end of XVIII as a result of three divisions of the Polish-Lithuanian state Byelorussian lands in the form of provinces (Vitebsk, Mogilev, Minsk, Grodno, the largest part of Vilno province and Braslav district of Koven province) became a part of the Russian Empire. Those processes reflected immediately in new maps of the Russian Empire, in particular, in “Atlas” (1792) compiled by A.Vilbrecht. The province division will remain (with some changes to the outlines and names) during all XIX and the beginning of XX centuries. Naturally, at the beginning “trophy” maps were actively used. But soon on the initiative of quartermaster and then public services rough surveys at the local level and collection of material of a statistically descriptive character will begin that will enable subsequent creation of special (large-scale), general maps of the provinces and districts. Initially they were typically hand-written and therefore often afterwards became a subject to criticism for the lack of precision, absence of geodesic underlying base. However the abundance of information, accompanying descriptions that, taken together with maps, were compiled into substantial atlases, in fact they presented a unique source material. As a confirmation the work of colonel Borenville can be taken; the colonel carried out surveys of Lithuanian province (formally existed until 1801), as they say, “close in the tracks” [5, p.27]. The same characteristics possessed the materials of the General land-surveying (in the territory of Belarus in Polotsk and Mogilev provinces of those days, 1783-1785) [15, p.63-89]. Considering the beginning of XIX century the hand-written “Atlas of Minsk province” should also be mentioned. In general, that time is represented by many dozens of large-scale surveys (usually in a single copy), carried out “by eye” with the help of a land chain and an azimuth circle (compass), but retaining indubitable source studying advantages.
More serious works of Russian origin fall on the half of XIX. Already in the time of Paul I (emperor 1796-1801) in August 1797 the Map Depot was founded that initiated the activity of the Ordnance-Survey Department (OSD) attached to the General Headquarters of the Russian Army [5, p.27]. Almost all best cartographical works were concentrated here, including those which represented the territory of Belarus, but since that time topographical maps (detailed and for special purposes) became almost a total military monopoly. It is true, though, that at that time many of them were quite available while some were replicated for a general use. As such “open” though detailed enough one should consider “Map of a Hundred Pages” of K.I.Opperman (1766-1831), “Atlas” of V.P.Pyadyshev (1765-1835) and “Ten-Versts*-Scale Map” of F.F.Shubert (1789-1865).
In the “Map of a Hundred Pages” – “Detailed Map of the Russian Empire and neighboring foreign estates” (1801-1805, St-Petersburg, 1:840000, 107 p., 39 x 35 cm) – Byelorussian provinces are in full or partially represented on pages 14, 15, 16, 25, 26, 27 and 35. With such a scale the map can’t be considered as a detailed one, but it depicted the territory of Eastern Europe more accurately in comparison with the previous works. This, by the way, was immediately used by the French Military Depot where it was taken as a basis for creating a more enlarged map for Napoleon Army [12, p.139]. Indeed, the map was attractive due to its accuracy in showing the hydrography, routes that connected many settlements. It generalized the materials of local surveyors and cadastral surveys that were completed with the works of the OSD officers. Of course, it didn’t go without mistakes since the “normalization” of the names, which remained from the former cartographical heritage, lay ahead. 
“Geographical Atlas of the Russian Empire, Polish Tzardom and the Great Duchy of Finland” (1821, St-Petersburg, 1:840000, separate prov., 35 x 35 cm) was compiled by colonel V.Pyadyshev under the influence of the liberal policy of Alexander I (emperor 1801-1825) against the “polish issue”, that is in two languages, preserving a lot of borrowings from Polish in Byelorussian names. But the advantage of “Atlas” is its excellent performance which in a sense became a pattern for creation multi-pages maps of the Russian Empire.
Soon after the war of 1812, which demonstrated a long felt need in enlarging the scale of maps and plotting more details on them, the activity of the Map Depot expanded considerably, its functions were gradually taken by the OSD and from 1822 a special Corps of Military Topography (CMT) started accomplishing direct surveys on site. Approximately at the same time geodesic job began to be conducted which assisted a more accurate cartographying of vast areas difficult of access and that was typical of the territory of Belarus as well.
* verst = 3500 ft. (translator’s note)

By the 20-s of that century a sufficient material had been gathered which was enough for making a new general topographical map. And in 1821 under the direction of a high-ranking engineer F. Shubert, the creator of the manpower training system for CMT the preliminary job for publishing a “Special Map of the Western Part of the Russian Empire” began (10 versts in an inch – 1:420000) – on 57 pages the prints for which were engraved on brass plates (74,6 x 50,2) to 1839. Shubert’s map had more than two thousand reference points, there almost all settlements, main roads, rivers and bridges, province and district borders found their place. It was intended to plot forest tracts and marshlands as well, but it wasn’t always successful like there were no reliable data relating to the number of farmsteads in villages. In some places the map was overloaded with names, which is natural for such a scale. Nevertheless it was the best cartographical work of the first half of XIX, representing so minutely a considerable part of Eastern Europe.
The territory of Belarus in the “Ten-Versts-Scale Map 1839” appeared on eight pages: XXII (Dvina), XXIII (Vitebsk), XXVII (Grodno), XXVIII (Minsk), XXIX (Mogilev), XXXIII (Brest), XXXIV (Pinsk) and XXXV (Mozyr). In province and district towns stone buildings (churches, monasteries, town halls) served as a geodesic basis – many of them as architectural monuments survived to these days.
By the beginning of the second half of the century Shubert’s map less and less corresponded to the reality. Social and economic changes in the country life, construction of new communications, appearance of some objects and disappearance of others together with the continuation of active surveys combined with more accurate measuring, the necessity to know more about the locality from the military point of view – all this demanded creation of next cartographical works and of a larger scale at that. Of course, the “Ten-Versts-Scale Map” went on serving the needs of consumers. It arouse interest abroad as well.
In 1859 in Paris, in Polish emigrant environment that was preparing another uprising against czarism (it will take place in 1863-1864) a “Map of Former Poland with Bordering Areas of Neighboring Countries” appeared. It was compiled under the direction of general and topographer Voitseh Hshanovsky (1793-1861) who served in Polish Tzardom – a part of the Russian Empire in former times. For its eastern territory (Byelorussian provinces) the map of Shubert was used almost entirely. The only thing that improved with enlarging the scale (1:300000) was that it became more readable, of course, in the Polish language. The “Map of Three-Kilometers-Scale” of V.Hshanovsky should also be considered as a source along with the “Ten-Versts-Scale Map” of F.Shubert. 
In the beginning of the second half of XIX the Russian cartography began to enrich itself with new programs: “Military Road Map of European Russia” (25 versts scale, 1864), a new “Ten-Versts-Scale Map” of Strelbitsky – “Special Map of European Russia” (1864-1871), a number of topical editions of a cartographical house of A. Ilyin who published among others excellent maps of separate provinces and so on. But even in this multitude the “Three-Versts-Scale Map” took a special place. 
“Military-Topographical Map of Western Russia” (3 versts in an inch, 1:126000, 1845-1903, St-Peterburg, 517 p., 61 x 45 cm) was published by 1863 on 435 pages using topographical surveys and terrestrial triangulation 1816-1858. The first maps of the kind became the maps of Byelorussian provinces: Minsk – 1850, Grodno – 1855, Mogilev and Vilno – 1857 and Vitebsk – 1859.

On 78 pages representing Belarus in a three versts scale one can see a complete picture of nature environment, a large amount of physical and geographic as well as social objects which constitutes an obvious source studying value of the map. Of course, a number of names should be treated with criticism taking into account modern editions. It didn’t go without uncertainties which were caused by the coming changes of different character (the abolition of serfdom, intensive road construction including railway and so on), that entailed immediate reconnoitering. But the main content didn’t change, therefore those maps even of the latest editions (the beginning of XX) actually reflect the situation of the 50-s in XIX.
If we take the middle of XIX as the end of the ancient cartography period (as it is accepted in European classification), then it is the “Three-Versts-Scale Map” which represents this borderline. In favor of such division several factors can be mentioned: appearance of new kinds of printing (offset, colour, circulation), of more precise instruments of survey, unification of editions, significance of hypsometry and a new way of depicting relief, - in a word, quite a large quantity of features which made the cartography of the second half of XIX with the modern one. But the three-versts-scale map went on serving both military and civil needs for a long time afterwards. Taken as a diverse historical source it holds, without any doubts, a leading position.
Reasoning from considering the main monuments of ancient cartography depicting Eastern Europe in XVI –XVIII and the western part of the Russian Empire at the end of XVIII – the first half of XIX, it becomes evident that Byelorussian lands in the form of general territory or separate parts are ranked considerably there. Taking into account the dynamics of historical events and circumstances, these monuments of scientific and esthetical thought to a great extent can serve as the basic sources in further investigations of the centuries gone by. Allowing for the rising interest to ancient maps which is observed in the whole world, attention should be paid to their publication in the form of separate editions and atlases provided with corresponding scientific or popular commentaries.
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